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 AIST is using elements of the Integrated Reporting Framework to move towards a more open and 
transparent report that informs stakeholders of what we have achieved and the value AIST has created 
over the last 12 month reporting period, as well as the future value we intend to create. This annual 
report covers our activities from 1st January 2015 to 31st December 2015. The most recent report 
prior is the AIST Annual Report 2014. We report annually prior to our Annual General Meeting that is 
held in March each year. Any questions regarding the report or its contents can be directed to Media 
and Content Officer Sarah Goodwin at sgoodwin@aist.asn.au

About this report
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About AIST

The Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees (AIST) is a national not-for-profit 
organisation whose membership consists of the trustee directors and staff of industry, corporate and 
public-sector funds.

As the principal advocate and peak representative body for the $650 billion not-for-profit 
superannuation sector, AIST plays a key role in policy development and is a leading provider of research.

AIST provides professional training and support for trustees and fund staff to help them meet the 
challenges of managing superannuation funds and advancing the interests of their fund members. Each 
year, AIST hosts the Conference of Major Superannuation Funds (CMSF), in addition to numerous other 
industry conferences and events.

Our offices are located in Spring Street, Melbourne, with events and conferences held all over Australia.

Who are we?

Vision A better retirement outcome for all Australians.

Mission AIST will advance the Representative Trustee System by building skills, knowledge and capabilities and 
being the champion of strong governance and sustainability of the system.

 — Advocate for a better retirement outcome

 — Enhance skills, knowledge and capabilities of the superannuation industry

 — Champion excellence in representative governance

 — Build a sustainable organisation with a culture that fosters initiative

Fundamental goals
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How we create value for members 

This section of the report outlines how AIST creates values for members. As demonstrated below, decisions made by AIST member funds are based on 
members’ best interests – in turn, this influences all of AIST’s activities. Communication between AIST members and AIST is two-way, with AIST providing a 
range of services to ensure our funds can provide a better retirement outcome for all Australians.

AIST 
MEMBERS

BETTER 
RETIREMENT 

OUTCOME 
FOR ALL 

AUSTRALIANS

MEMBERS’ BEST 
INTERESTS

REPRESENTATION 
Influence in decision making

GOVERNANCE TOOLS & KNOWLEDGE 
Best-practice guidance & implementation

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
High professional standards, service & knowledge

OUTPUTS: OUTCOMES:

 — Advocacy and member representation to major stakeholders 
including Government, regulators and media.

 — Professional development services – education, training, events, 
study tours, as well as personal development programs – to 
meet the ongoing professional development needs of AIST 
members. 

 — Member and community resources including timely policy and 
news updates, research and guidelines, and toolkits to assist 
funds in meeting their legal and compliance obligations.

 — Forums for member funds to collaborate, share, discuss and 
debate ideas.

 — Highly skilled and informed trustee directors and fund staff to 
ensure a solid foundation for operations, management and board 
oversight. 

 — Superannuation policy and other reforms that are workable, 
evidence-based, fair and sustainable. 

 — A better-informed and educated public about superannuation 
and retirement. 

ULTIMATE VALUE:

AIST supports funds to achieve a better retirement outcome for all Australians.
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Member committees

 — Education Committee

 — Policy & Governance Committee
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A Report from the President

2015 was again a challenging environment 
for the Board, staff and members of AIST. The 
continuation of political uncertainty; Government 
hostilities towards our governance model; and the 
push towards a more market-based system for 
superannuation that suits a profit-making model 
and has little, if anything, to do with improving net 
returns to member, meant there was no room for 
complacency.

These challenges further cemented the need for 
a strong representative voice with not-for-profit 
values and the representative trustee system at 
its core. It was very pleasing to see AIST once 
again fulfil this role and achieve so many positive 
outcomes.

Earlier in the year, the sad death of Mavis 
Robertson founder of AIST, CMSF and WIS 
caused many of us to think about how we could 
continue her leadership and legacy. 

Her long list of achievements reminded us of our 
unique heritage and the importance of the power 
of collective action.

When Mavis conceived of CMSF 25 years ago 
and AIST some two years later, her thinking was 
about the power of the collective and supporting 
trustees from the not-for-profit sector to be 
innovative and drive better retirement outcomes 
for members. She, and others involved in 
superannuation, recognised the need for an 
organisation that could effectively represent the 
culture, philosophy and interests of the not-for-
profit sector. This is just as true today as it was 
then, if not more so. 

The dramatic rejection of the Governance Bill 
in December illustrated an understanding on 
the part of the Senate of the importance of the 
unique achievements and culture of not-for-profit 
superannuation. The outcome clearly represents 
a triumph of good sense over bad public policy 
and legislative over reach. There was simply no 
evidence to support this heavy-handed approach. 
The Fraser Review now provides us with the 
opportunity to build on our success with an 
industry-led Code of Governance. 

In addition to this significant advocacy work 
and member engagement on governance, AIST 
responded to a host of other regulatory and 
reform issues during the year. 

The AIST Board is pleased to share our activities 
from the 2015 reporting period with you in this 
report. Achievements of particular note for me 
were:

 — The further development of the AIST-Mercer 
Super Tracker, which is a genuine tool to 
drive evidenced-based policy on super rather 
than constant tinkering.

 — Our well attended Chairs’ Forums, which 
continue to attract high quality discussion 
and speakers.

 — The start of a collective work on fees to 
ensure that the benefits of scale in the 
system accrue to members and not to 
agents or shareholders.

 — The growing success of our Trustee Director 
Courses.

 — The continued focus on innovation, 
particularly digital transformation.

It was also pleasing to see funds recognise 
the value of AIST membership with very 
active member participation in committees, 
communities of interest and events.

BOARD RENEWAL 

Following a hotly contested election at the 
beginning of the year, the Board welcomed newly 
elected directors Louise du Pre-Alba and Geoffrey 
Lake to the Board and, more recently, as part 
of our Board renewal, Naomi Edwards, Chair of 
Tasplan, and Debby Blakey, CEO of HESTA, as 
Board-appointed directors.

Thank you to all of the Board members for their 
hard work during the year and commitment to 
AIST’s mission and a particular thank you to Kate 
Andrews, Sue Gould and Danielle Press who 
departed the Board during 2015.

Having served on the AIST Board since 2002 and 
the CMSF Steering Committee from 1997 until its 
merger with AIST, I have announced my intention 
to retire from the Board at the end of my term as 
President in March 2016. My time with AIST has 
been a privilege – both in terms of helping shape 
developments in the superannuation system 
as well as meeting and working with so many 
dedicated and talented individuals.

I would like to thank Cate Wood, who is 
also retiring from the Board in 2016, for her 
dedication and contribution to AIST’s work – as 
former President, Deputy President, Chair of the 
Education Committee and member of the FRAC 
Committee. 

I would also like to thank everyone who has 
worked with me – not only over the term of my 
presidency – but also over the whole 14 years 
that I have been on the AIST Board. A particular 
thank you to Tom and his team who have worked 
tirelessly over the past year to ensure that the 
not-for-profit sector has a dedicated voice and 
collective approach to sector development which 
focuses solely on the best interests of fund 
members.

Strong cultures drive successful organisations 
and I firmly believe that our members-first, rather 
than profits-first-culture will continue to be a key 
ingredient for ensuring that our funds innovate 
and thrive in the emerging digital and competitive 
world. 

Angela Emslie 
President

Angela Emslie
PRESIDENT
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A Report from the CEO

2015 was another significant year in 
superannuation reform – both in terms of policy 
development and helping the industry meet the 
challenge of implementing the seemingly endless 
stream of new regulations. 

From the controversial debate about board 
governance through to many hours of stakeholder 
engagement over SuperStream governance and 
e-commerce implementation, AIST played a 
key role in influencing outcomes that we firmly 
believe are in the best interests of working, as 
well as retired, Australians. 

Our advocacy was evidenced-based and 
framed by the extensive member consultations 
we held throughout the year. By year’s end 
we had completed more than 50 policy 
submissions, touching on almost every aspect of 
superannuation. 

After many months of stakeholder engagement, a 
key highlight for AIST was the December decision 
by four independent Senate crossbenchers to 
reject the Government’s governance Bill. This was 
a victory for common sense. At no stage during 
the intense debate was the Government able to 
present a compelling argument as to why this Bill 
was necessary or how it would lead to improved 
retirement outcomes for members. Drawing on 
the collective strength of the not-for-profit sector, 
AIST, Industry Super Australia (ISA) and others 
were able to clearly articulate arguments that 
resonated with the Senate crossbenchers, who 
ultimately agreed that this was an ideologically-
driven attack on our sector, without any evidence 

to support the need for change.

Importantly, AIST has no issue with independent 
directors being appointed to fill skill gaps on 
the boards of not-for-profit funds. But we firmly 
believe that the equal representation trustee 
system must be protected from any legislative 
changes that could diminish its impact on the 
governance of our funds – and, ultimately, their 
long-term performance. 

Governance aside, there were many other 
challenges and highlights for AIST in 2015. 

The Fraser Review gives the profit for member 
super sector the opportunity to create a global 
best practice stewardship code – one that other 
jurisdictions will take note of and emulate. We 
encourage all members and funds to engage in 
the process so we can collaboratively create a 
visionary and exemplary code.

The further development of the AIST-Mercer 
Super Tracker has proved incredibly useful in 
guiding AIST’s policy positions and ensuring 
these positions are evidence-based and carefully 
considered against a range of key metrics 
including fairness and sustainability. The Tracker 
has been well-received among key stakeholders 
and is set to be an important tool for shaping 
future policy development. 

We have continued to be a key participant in the 
implementation of SuperStream. Significant work 
has been achieved alongside the Association of 
Superannuation Funds of Australia (ASFA) and the 
Financial Services Council (FSC) to develop the 
Gateway Network Governance Body (GNGB) – an 
incredibly important entity that will govern the 
“plumbing” of the super system.

THE YEAR AHEAD

2016 is shaping up to be another busy year 
for AIST and a critical time for superannuation, 
with proposed governance changes to board 
composition, the Productivity Commission review 
of defaults in Awards, and policy outcomes from 
both the Government’s Tax Inquiry and Financial 
System Inquiry. We are committed to ensuring 
that AIST continues to provide excellence in 
policy, professional development and governance 
services to our members.

This year we have begun to change the way in 
which we report to members. Over the next two 
reporting cycles, AIST will be transitioning our 
annual report to meet the Integrated Reporting 

(IR) Framework. Integrated Reporting explains 
how an organisation creates value over time, 
and is in line with our goal to be as open and 
transparent with members as possible.

The move will time in well with our 2016 
membership survey to find out what matters 
most to you – our members. The results will 
inform our future activities and priorities and also 
coincide with the development of our next three-
year strategic plan, allowing us to ensure that 
we are providing members with relevant, useful 
and high quality services. I strongly encourage all 
members to share their views and experiences 
with us during the survey period.

Finally, I’d like to thank the AIST Board, AIST 
members and AIST staff. Many members have 
participated in various committees, working 
groups and communities of interest throughout 
the year – all contributing to AIST’s strong 
success in 2015. 

I would particularly like to thank Angela Emslie 
and Cate Wood as current and previous 
presidents of AIST – respectively for their 
guidance, support, challenging debate and 
contribution to AIST. They have devoted a 
great deal of time and effort to ensure AIST is 
delivering high quality services for members.

I look forward to working with all AIST members 
to ensure AIST is making a difference to the 
retirement outcomes of your members. We hope 
that you find the information enclosed useful and 
welcome any feedback.

 

Tom Garcia
Chief Executive Officer

Tom Garcia 
CEO
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Our 2015 Members

AIST offers three types of membership – fund, individual and associate – as detailed below.

 — Fund membership is available for not-for-profit funds and all trustees and fund staff enrolled as AIST members;

 — Individual membership is available for people who are, or have previously been, directors, staff members or a representative superannuation trustee and 
wish to be an AIST member; 

 — Associate membership is available for organisations who are wholly owned by a representative not-for-profit fund, or are part of a regulator or 
Government agency involved in the superannuation industry.

In 2015, engagement with members through a variety of channels was a key objective for AIST. AIST continued to retain membership of all funds from 2014 
and saw a net increase of approximately eight per cent of staff within our member funds – a result of newly created positions. 

Merger activity was scarce during the year, with the exception of Quadrant and Tasplan who joined together in late 2015. 

An ongoing focus for AIST in 2016 will be to understand more about our members’ roles in their fund and to provide services and solutions that help them to 
deliver better service to their members.

 — AMIST Super

 — ANZ Australian Staff Superannuation Scheme

 — Australian Catholic Superannuation and 
Retirement Fund

 — AustralianSuper

 — AustSafe Super

 — AvSuper

 — BUSSQ Building Super

 — CareSuper

 — Catholic Super

 — Cbus

 — Christian Super

 — Clough Superannuation Fund

 — Club Plus Super

 — Club Super

 — Combined Super

 — Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation 
(CSC) 

 — Energy Industries Superannuation Scheme

 — Energy Super

 — Equip

 — ESSSuper

 — Fire & Emergency Services Super Fund

 — Firesuper NZ

 — First State Super

 — First Super

 — HESTA

 — Holden Employees Superannuation Fund

 — Hostplus

 — Kinetic Superannuation

 — legalsuper

 — Local Government Super

 — LUCRF Super

 — Lutheran Super

 — Maritime Super

 — Media Super

 — Mine Wealth + Wellbeing Super (formerly 
AUSCOAL Superannuation Fund)

 — MTAA Super

 — Nambawan Super

 — NESS

 — NGS Super

 — Northern Territory Government Public 
Authorities’ Superannuation Scheme

 — NSF Super

 — Prime Super

 — QIEC Super

 — Quadrant Superannuation Scheme

 — RBF

 — REI Super

 — REST Industry Super

 — Retirement Fund Board

 — SA Metropolitan Fire Service Superannuation 
Scheme

 — State Super (SAS Trustee Corporation)

 — Statewide

 — Sunsuper

 — Super SA

 — Tasplan

 — Telstra Super

 — Towers Watson Superannuation Pty Ltd

 — Transport Super

 — TWUSUPER

 — UniSuper

 — VicSuper

 — Vision Super

 — WA Super 
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The Governance of AIST

AIST is governed by a representative Board elected by the membership. The composition of the Board is determined by the AIST Constitution, which has 
provision for 9 elected directors in two different categories as follows:

 — Six (6) Trustee Elected Directors, elected by Trustee Members of AIST Registered Funds;

 — Three (3) Staff Elected Directors, elected by Staff Members of AIST Registered Funds;

 — Plus up to three (3) Board Appointed Directors, appointed by the AIST Board, which need not but may be a Trustee Member or Staff Member.

Further details about our governance model are outlined in the AIST Constitution which is approved by AIST members and available on our website.

Information on AIST Committees and their duties can be found on page 26 of this report.

DIRECTOR 11 FEB 2015 15 APR 2015 11 JUN 2015 13 AUG 2015 15 OCT 2015 16 DEC 2015 ATTENDANCE

ANGELA EMSLIE 5/6

DAVID SMITH 5/6

KATE ANDREWS** N/A N/A 4/4

GRAEME ARNOTT X 5/6

LOUISE DU PRE-
ALBA*

N/A 4/5

NAOMI EDWARDS* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

SUE GOULD** N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

GEOFFREY LAKE* N/A 5/5

GERARD NOONAN 5/6

MICHAEL 
O’CONNOR

3/6

STEPHEN PRATT 5/6

DANIELLE PRESS** N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

CATE WOOD 5/6
 
Members are marked N/A where they were not eligible to attend the Board meeting. See notes below.

* Louise du Pre-Alba & Geoffrey Lake appointed 18/3/15, Naomi Edwards appointed 16/12/2015 
** Danielle Press resigned 18/3/2015, Sue Gould resigned 12/2/2015, Kate Andrews resigned 13/8/2015

In 2015, the AIST Board had:
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Remuneration

Members of the AIST Board are not paid for their services.

Remuneration for AIST executive staff is as below. Total remuneration is made up of total package (base salary, superannuation and leave loading) and any 
bonus paid during 2015.

As per AIST’s Certified Agreement 2014: 
a) Super contributions are paid at 1 per cent higher than SGC. 
b) Leave loading is paid at 25 per cent of 4 weeks base salary. 
c) All employees are eligible for an annual performance bonus of up to 10 per cent of base salary – subject to performance against measurable key 
performance indicators.

The CEO is on a separate contract not covered by the Certified Agreement and bonus calculations are based on total package. 

NAME POSITION FULL TIME 
EQUIVALENT 

BASE 
SALARY

SUPER BONUS LEAVE 
LOADING

TOTAL 
REM 2015

Tom Garcia Chief Executive Officer 1.0 $183,031 $16,791 $13,106 $3,507 $216,434

Sharon Bierens Executive Manager, People & Culture 0.6 $55,865 $6,213 $3,653 $1,072 $66,803

Janet de Silva Executive Manager, Media & Corporate 
Communications

1.0 $131,135 $14,550 $8,219 $2,520 $156,424

Meegan George Executive Manager, Education & Leadership 1.0 $142,926 $15,831 $8,676 $2,743 $170,176

David Haynes Executive Manager, Policy & Research 0.8 $140,504 $15,577 $8,676 $2,700 $167,454

Theresa Hoogland Executive Manager, Marketing & Strategy 1.0 $116,922 $13,014 $7,763 $2,245 $139,944

Maryann Mannix-White Executive Manager, Business & Operations 
Services & Company Secretary

1.0 $144,125 $16,001 $9,132 $2,766 $172,025

Eva Scheerlinck Executive Manager, Governance & Stewardship 1.0 $152,131 $17,015 $10,959 $2,923 $183,028

Tanya Tran Executive Manager, Finance 0.6 $56,598 $6,290 $3,653 $1,086 $67,627
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Kate Andrews
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2013 
(RESIGNED 2015)

Board Appointed Director

Age: 47

AIST Registered Fund: HESTA

Qualifications: BComm./BA., Grad. Dip 
Marketing, RG146, Dip. Of Financial Services 
(Superannuation), FAIST

Skills and experience: 

Kate has more than 20 years marketing 
experience, in Australia and the USA, on major 
brands including Microsoft, US West, 3 Mobile, 
GE Money, AXA and National Australia Bank. 
Since 2007, Kate has been on HESTA’s executive 
management team leading marketing for the 
health and community services fund with 
predominately female, lower income, members.

Current roles held: 

 — Executive Manager – Marketing Strategy, 
HESTA

 — Member, Industry Super Australia 
– IFS Joint Marketing Campaign Steering 
Committee 
– ISF Joint Marketing Campaign Strategy 
Group 
– ISF PR Committee

Past roles held: 

 — General Manager, The Campaign Palace

 — Business Director/ Executive Business 
Director / Management Team, Grey

 — Partner, Business Director, Georgie Patterson 
Partners 

 — Associate Director/ Group Business Director, 
DDB

 — V.P. Management Representative / Client 
Service Director DDB (Chicago)

 — Account Supervisor, Wieden + Kennedy 
(Portland)

 — Account Executive / Account Supervisor, DDB 
(Chicago)

Our Board

Angela Emslie
PRESIDENT, JOINED 2002

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 54

AIST Registered Fund: HESTA

Qualifications: BE, Master of Business, RG146 
Superannuation, FAIST

Skills and experience: 

Angela has extensive experience as a 
professional trustee director having served on a 
range of industry fund and related boards for the 
last 20 years. She has been Chair of HESTA for 
six years. In addition to her trustee role, Angela 
is a founding director of the consulting firm LIME 
Management Group that provides management 
consulting services primarily to the health and 
community services sector. She has a range of 
expertise including strategic, governance and 
investment-related skills.

Current roles held: 

 — Independent Chair, HESTA

 — Director, Frontier Advisors

 — Director, Suicide Prevention Australia

 — Member, ISA Advisory Committee

 — Chair, AIST Remuneration Committee

 — Member, AIST Policy & Governance 
Committee

Past roles held: 

 — Member, AIST Governance and Professional 
Standards Committee

 — AIST representative on Stronger Super 
Governance Working Group

 — Director, CareSuper

 — Director, Vision Super

 — Director, VicSuper

 — Director, AUSFund

David Smith
DEPUTY PRESIDENT, JOINED 2013

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 52

AIST Registered Fund: Energy Super

Qualifications: Dip. of Financial Services 
(Superannuation), RG146

Skills and experience: 

David has over 20 years experience in 
representing working people. He has been 
involved in the superannuation industry as a fund 
director since 2007 and has extensive experience 
in leadership roles in member organisations.

Current roles held: 

 — Director, Energy Super

 — Chair, Energy Super Remuneration 
Committee and Claims Committee

 — Member, Energy Super Member Services 
Committee

 — National Secretary, Australian Services Union

 — Member, ACTU Executive

 — Director, Australian Discount Shopping 
Services

 — Member, AIST Education Committee

Past roles held: 

 — Director, HESTA

 — Queensland Branch Secretary, Australian 
Services Union

 — State Treasurer, Queensland Branch of the 
ALP

 — Director, Union Shopper
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Our Board

Louise du 
Pre-Alba
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2015

Fund Staff Representative 
Director

Age: 52

AIST Registered Fund: 
AustralianSuper

Qualifications: Bachelor of Laws, 
Bachelor of Arts (Politics), eMBA, 
Diploma of Superannuation

Skills and experience:  

Louise has over 20 years experience 
in superannuation and financial 
services, specialising in policy, 
regulatory, legal and compliance 
aspects.

Current roles held:  

 — Head of Policy, AustralianSuper

Past roles held: 

 — Director of Policy, Association 
of Superannuation Funds of 
Australia 

 — Senior Executive Leader, 
Superannuation, Australian 
Securities and Investments 
Commission

Graeme Arnott
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2013

Fund Staff Representative 
Director

Age: 51

AIST Registered Fund:

First State Super

Qualifications: BSc Technology 
and Business Studies, Chartered 
Accountant (Scotland)

Skills and experience: 

Graeme joined First State Super in 
early 2007 with prior roles at JP 
Morgan Custodian Services Australia 
and Price Waterhouse.

Current roles held: 

 — Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Operating Officer, 
First State Super 

 — Executive Director, First State 
Super Financial Services 

 — Member, AIST Finance, Risk & 
Audit Committee

Past roles held: 

 — JP Morgan Custodian services 
Australia (Various roles)

 — Price Waterhouse Australia 
(Auditor and Management 
consultant) 

Sue Gould
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2014 
(RESIGNED 2015)

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 61

AIST Registered Fund: UniSuper

Qualifications: BSc Hons (Biological 
Sciences), PhD, and FAICD, GAIST

Skills and experience: 

Sue has more than 25 years 
experience in the higher education 
sector. Sue’s last executive role 
was as Deputy Vice Chancellor and 
University Secretary at the University 
of Newcastle. Sue has broad 
executive skills and strong interest 
in both organisational change and 
governance.

Current roles held: 

 — Trustee, UniSuper

 — Member, AIST Education 
Committee

 — Chair, UniSuper Remuneration 
Committee

 — Chair, UniSuper Insurance 
Committee

 — Member, Medical Radiation 
Practice Board of Australia, 
National Examination Committee

 — Key Associate, Phillips KPA 
Consulting

Past roles held: 

 — Non-executive director and 
committee chair, Unimutual 

 — Chair, GradSchool.com

 — Executive director, University of 
Newcastle (Singapore)

 — Head, Academic Administration 
Deakin University 

 — Executive director, Callista 
Software Services

Naomi Edwards
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2015

Board Appointed Director

Age: 50

AIST Registered Fund: 
Tasplan Super

Qualifications: BSc (Hons), FIA, 
FIAA, FNZSA 

Skills and Experience:

An actuary by training with an 
executive background in the 
financial services industry, Naomi 
Edwards has extensive experience 
as a professional director, including 
chairing listed ASX companies, 
industry super funds, and other 
not-for-profits. Naomi also has a 
background in listed merger and 
acquisition activity.

Current roles held:

 — Independent Chair, Tasplan 
Super

 — Director, AICD

Past roles held:

 — Chair, Australian Ethical 
Investments

 — Director, Australian Ethical 
Super

 — Director, Hunter Hall 
International Ltd

 — Director, Hunter Hall Investment 
Management Ltd

 — Partner, Deloitte

 — Director, Trowbridge Consulting
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Geoffrey Lake
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2015

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 35

AIST Registered Fund: 
Vision Super

Qualifications: BA (Hons) LLB (Hons)

Skills and experience: 

Geoff is a lawyer and a local government 
councillor in Melbourne. He has led the local 
government sector at a state and national level 
including as a full member of the Council of 
Australian Governments (COAG). He joined the 
Vision Super board in 2009.

Current roles held: 

 — Deputy Chair and Chair of Investment 
Committee, Vision Super

 — Councillor, City of Monash

 — Board Member, Municipal Association of 
Victoria

 — Director, Hawkesbridge Capital

 — Director, South Gippsland Water

Past roles held: 

 — Lawyer, Minter Ellison Lawyers

 — President, Australian Local Government 
Association

 — President, Municipal Association of Victoria 

Gerard Noonan
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2011

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 64

AIST Registered Fund: 
Media Super

Qualifications: BA (LaTrobe Uni), MA Distinction 
(University of Sydney), GAIST

Skills and experience: 

Gerard has over 30 years experience in the media 
industry at the Sydney Morning Herald and the 
Australian Financial Review, where he was editor 
for five years. He is a winner of the Walkley Award 
in journalism.

Current roles held: 

 — Chair, Media Super

 — President, Australian Council of Super 
Investors (ACSI)

 — Independent Director, The New Daily

 — Chair, AIST Policy & Governance Committee

 — Member, Media Entertainment and Arts 
Alliance

Past roles held: 

 — AIST representative on Federal Government’s 
Stronger Super MySuper Committee

 — Editor, Australian Financial Review

 — Board member, Innovation Australia

Michael O’Connor
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2013

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 56

AIST Registered Fund: First Super

Skills and experience: 

Michael has been involved with industry 
superannuation funds since the 1980s. He is 
currently Co-Chair of First Super, which has 
72,000 members across the timber, pulp & 
paper and furniture & joinery industries and 
their communities. He has been an official of the 
CFMEU since 1985.

Current roles held:  

 — Co-Chair/Director, First Super Pty Ltd

 — Chair, First Super Investment Committee

 — Director/Chair, Super Benefits Administration 
Pty Ltd (SBA)

 — Director, Industry Super Australia

 — Director/Chair, Secure Employees 
Entitlements Trust (SEET)

 — National Secretary, Construction Forestry 
Mining & Energy Union (CFMEU)

 — Vice President, Australian Council of Trade 
Unions (ACTU)

 — Member, ACTU Executive

Past roles held: 

 — Director/Co-Chair, Timber Industry 
Superannuation Scheme (TISS)

 — Director, ForestWorks

 — Member, Prime Minister’s Taskforce On 
Manufacturing

 — Director, Frontier Consulting Pty Ltd

 — Chair, Federal Government’s Pulp & Paper 
Advisory Group (PPAG).

Our Board
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Danielle Press
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2011 
(RESIGNED 2015)

Fund Staff Representative Director

Age: 45

AIST Registered Fund: Equip 

Qualifications: BEcons (Hons), GAICD

Skills and experience: 

Danielle is the CEO of Equip and has over 20 
years experience in financial services and 
investments in markets including Australia, the 
USA, Europe and Asia. Danielle joined Equip 
from UBS Global Asset Management (Australia), 
where she was Deputy Head of Australia. Her 
international career has included diverse roles 
in portfolio management, product development, 
client management, economic analysis and 
investment banking.

Current roles held: 

 — CEO, Equip

 — Director, Equipsuper Financial Planning Pty 
Ltd

 — Director, Equipsuper Holdings Pty Ltd and 
Equipsuper Flinders Ports Holdings Pty Ltd

 — Member, Deakin University Investment 
Advisory Committee

Past roles held: 

 — Senior Analyst, Reserve Bank of Australia

 — Financial Economist, SBC 

 — Portfolio Manager, UBS Global Asset 
Management

 — Senior Client Relationship Manager, UBS 
Global Asset Management

 — Head of Strategic Planning, Alternative & 
Quantitative Strategies, UBS Global Asset 
Management 

Cate Wood
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2011

Trustee Representative Director

Age: 60

AIST Registered Fund: CareSuper

Qualifications: BA (Social Sciences), RG146, 
GAIST, FAIST

Skills and experience: 

Cate has over 30 years experience representing 
working people with extensive experience 
in management, superannuation, industrial 
relations, advocacy, training, investment, 
insurance and diversity.

Current roles held: 

 — Chair, CareSuper

 — Director, Industry Superannuation Property 
Trust

 — Member, ACT Treasury Investment Advisory 
Board

 — National Chair, Women in Super

 — Director, Industry Super Australia

 — Member, Women in Super Mother’s Day 
Classic Committee (Canberra)

 — Member, CareSuper Investment Committee

 — Member, CareSuper Governance and 
Remuneration Committee

 — Chair, AIST Education Committee

 — Member, AIST Finance, Risk & Audit 
Committee

 — Member, AIST Policy & Governance Committee

Past roles held: 

 — Member, Minister’s Superannuation Round 
Table

 — Director & CEO, AGEST Super

 — AIST director (2007 – 2010) & Board 
member CMSF 

 — CEO, Trade Union Training Authority

 — Assistant Secretary (Victorian Branch), 
Australian Services Union

 — Research Officer, Australian Nurses Federation

Stephen Pratt
BOARD MEMBER, JOINED 2014

Fund Staff Representative Director

Age: 55

AIST Registered Fund: Prime Super

Qualifications: MBA, BCom, GAICD

Skills and experience: 

Stephen has worked in financial services for over 
30 years with a focus on both customer servicing 
roles and business process management in 
the back office. In 2000 he moved from retail 
banking into superannuation. He has significant 
experience in process management, project 
management and has managed internal audit 
teams, human resource departments and 
technology departments. 

Current roles held:  

 — General Manager, Operations, 
Prime Super

Past roles held: 

 — Senior Manager in various positions, 
SuperPartners

 — General Manager in various roles, Trust Bank

Our Board



16 AIST 2015 Annual Report

AIST in the Community

AIST has maintained a strong and healthy relationship with our charity partners during 2015 as part of our work in the greater community. This is in line with 
our goal to advocate for a better retirement for all Australians.

More than $30,000 was raised for Superlife during a silent auction, raffle and charity golf day hosted at AIST’s annual conference, CMSF. Additional money 
was also raised at a charity golf day held prior to our Australian Investment Conference (ASI).

Superlife’s mission is to raise awareness and funds for the National Breast Cancer Foundation (NBCF), Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia (PCFA) and 
SuperFriend because early detection and intervention saves lives and improves the health and wellbeing of super fund members. Money raised was split 
evenly between the three charities.

AIST has also continued to support Australia for UNHCR – an Australian charity that raises funds to support the work of the UN Refugee Agency.

In recognition of contribution to AIST events, speakers and chairs were thanked with a donation on their behalf to Australia for UNHCR. This resulted in AIST 
donating over $40,000 to the charity in 2015.

UNHCR has an international mandate to protect and assist those made homeless by conflict and persecution. UNHCR’s humanitarian programs include life-
saving healthcare, water and shelter in emergencies as well as education and self-reliance programs for refugees and displaced people who cannot return 
home.

In 2016, AIST speaker and chair donations will be directed towards First Nations’ Foundation – a not-for-profit organisation that aim to build a better financial 
future for first Australians. First Nations’ Foundation improve financial inclusion for Indigenous Australians, provide training in financial literacy and assists the 
financial services sector to be more relevant to Indigenous Australians. AIST’s donations will support the Big Koori Super Day Out – an Indigenous community 
event to help first Australians find their lost super, consolidate accounts, and become more educated about the benefits that super offers. It will also provide 
an opportunity for AIST staff and members to be involved. AIST support for First Nations’ Foundation is in line with our commitment to reconciliation and our 
mission to provide a better retirement outcome for all Australians. We will continue to work with UNHCR through support of their Action Hour program.
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2015 in Review

This section of the report contains an overview of our key business operations and activities during the reporting period.

INSPIRATION AND KNOWLEDGE SHARING

The 25th Conference of Major Superannuation Funds (CMSF) was attended 
by over 1,000 delegates and covered a wide range of topics across 
investment; member experience; operations; insurance; advice; leadership; 
administration and governance. This year saw the introduction of the 
Learning Lab and revamped program structure, providing delegates with the 
opportunity to attend a broader range of sessions and have more networking 
time. Feedback was very positive – particularly in relation to the quality of 
the presenters and innovative use of technology. 

CMSF coincided with the sad passing of industry pioneer, Mavis Robertson, 
a founder of the event and one of only a handful of industry stalwarts who 
have attended every CMSF since its launch in Wollongong in 1991. This was 
recognised with special video tributes and speeches from colleagues in the 
industry, as well as the launch of the Mavis Robertson Plenary to be held at 
all future CMSF events. 

AIST’s annual Australian Superannuation Investment Conference (ASI) – held 
in the Gold Coast – received high praise for the thought-provoking speakers 
and quality content. Feedback from members found the conference 
engaging, relevant and topical.

2015 also saw the launch of AIST’s Ideas Exchange Series – a revamp of 
AIST’s original one-day symposiums. Seven events were held throughout the 
year with a more interactive, workshop format that was well received. Topical 
issues covered included technology; marketing; engagement; administration; 
governance; legal and insurance. 

Two new ‘Communities of Interest’ were commenced later in the year in 
the areas of risk and insurance, with more in the pipeline for 2016. These 
proved valuable to members and were well attended.

Other successful AIST events included the thought-leadership luncheon 
series; the inaugural Indigenous Super Summit; CIO Forum and Chair Forum 
series and the annual AIST Awards for Excellence. 

TRUSTEE AND FUND STAFF EDUCATION

2015 saw continued growth in AIST’s educational services with a record 
number of training events held Australia-wide. Trustee education was a 
particular highlight, with increased numbers attending our market-leading 
Trustee Director Course and the launch of a Skill Gap Analysis for trustee 
boards to revitalise the board evaluation process.

Feedback from funds found the Skill Gap Analysis led to a greater 
confidence in board members ability to self-assess their professional skill 
sets. The analysis also led to better aligned professional development plans, 
growth in skill diversity and positive regulator feedback.

In response to member demand, AIST expanded its education offering 
to include more call centre training and transferred to a new learning 
management system to streamline and enhance our members’ education 
experience with AIST. The AIST training rooms were revitalised to include 
state of the art equipment to maximise student engagement in courses 
offered. 

In 2016, AIST plans to conduct significantly more Australian Financial 
Service License (AFSL) Compliance Reviews – ensuring member facing staff 
are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to provide the best 
service to super fund members. We will also launch AIST’s new member 
accreditation program in early 2016 that will make it easier for our members 
to have their contribution to the super industry recognised, either as an 
Associate or Fellow of AIST. Other initiatives will include running the 2016 
Super Grads and Mentoring programs, automating our member experience 
system, and increasing opportunities for trustee professional development.

FOSTERING GLOBAL LINKS AND INTERNATIONAL PERSPECTIVE

This year saw the launch of AIST’s US Data and Technology study tour with 
representatives from 11 super funds exploring technology trends across the 
US financial services sector. 

Topics covered included member experience, security, hardware, logistics, 
cloud, mobile, and digital advice.

AIST has been fortunate to be able to leverage our industry partners 
beyond access to their domestic thought leaders by tapping into their vast 
international networks to showcase leading global thinkers and business 
leaders at AIST event and conferences within Australia. Without our Industry 
Partners, access to these high calibre international speakers and presenters 
would not be possible.

We also continue to build and foster relationships with global pension 
funds to help share learnings with AIST member funds through research 
or presenters at events. It is this sharing of international learnings from a 
range of large and small pension funds that helps support and add to the 
professional development opportunities available to AIST member funds.

In 2016, AIST will host our sixth Global Dialogue in Boston, USA. In one 
of the world’s leading innovation hubs, delegates will tackle key topics 
including strategy, investment, governance and technology. We have secured 
an impressive line-up of business leaders, investment professionals and 
leading academics to provide insight and a forum for ideas sharing and 
practical learning.

COMMUNICATING AIST’S MESSAGES 

During the year, AIST members, stakeholders, the media and the public were 
kept informed of AIST’s policy, research and advocacy activities through a 
range of communication mediums. 

AIST members received regular email communications including a fortnightly 
email newsletter, special policy alerts, overviews and summaries of key 
conferences and SuperTalk.

AIST’s views on key issues including the proposed governance changes, the 
Government’s response to the Financial System Inquiry, the scope of the 
Tax Inquiry and calls to raise the retirement age, received extensive media 
coverage. We were also very active in our media engagement on the gender 
savings gap, lost super thresholds and Indigenous super. 
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To improve the public’s understanding of how superannuation works with the 
Age Pension, AIST undertook a communication project to debunk the myth 
that $1 million is necessary for a dignified retirement. This paper provided 
much-needed clarity about how even small amounts of super can make a 
big difference to retirement living standards. The paper received very positive 
feedback and was extensively covered across print, television, online and 
radio. AIST linked up with AustralianSuper to launch the paper and a number 
of member funds have used excerpts of the paper in their own member 
communications.

To ensure AIST members were well informed of the May Federal 
Budget announcements concerning superannuation, AIST produced 
a comprehensive budget summary that was read by more than 2000 
recipients. This was complemented by a consumer-friendly edition for 
fund marketing teams to either publish on their own websites or distribute 
through email channels.

On social media, AIST has also continued to grow its presence, notably 
building our Twitter and LinkedIn followers significantly. 

In 2016, AIST will launch new versions of our policy and news e-mail 
communications, allowing more targeted messaging to our members. 
The media team’s role will also be extended to the management of all 
AIST content to ensure AIST communications are accurate, consistent and 
meeting member needs. 

Our engagement with the media will continue to be prioritised around key 
issues that impact our member funds and the retirement outcomes of 
Australians. A key focus will be communicating the new AIST governance 
code and our policy positions on tax as well as advocating for a default 
award system that adequately protects members’ best interests.

POLICY AND RESEARCH DEVELOPMENT

2015 was dominated by the long awaited Government’s response to the 
Financial System Inquiry (FSI); the associated governance debate; the Tax 
Inquiry; and of course, the change in Prime Minister. All of these have a big 
impact on superannuation and on AIST. We made dozens of submissions and 
had scores of meetings with member funds – including two sets of national 
roadshows – as well as ongoing consultations with regulators, Government, 
Treasury, parliamentary committees and other politicians and interest groups. 

AIST has had a loud voice throughout these debates and has continually put 
forward careful, considered and evidence-based positions that have been 
highly valuable to stakeholders.

The AIST-Mercer Super Tracker and the research we undertook with the 
Australian Centre for Financial Studies (ACFS) has been instrumental 
in the development of sound policy on tax, equity and post-retirement 
arrangements (see AIST-Mercer Super Tracker p. 22).

Along with governance, the Government seems most intent on removing the 
selection of default super funds from awards, and we have been steadfast in 
defending the role of the Fair Work Commission and industrial parties.

On the implementation front, AIST assisted funds on SuperStream, new 
disclosure arrangements and, finally, the Future of Financial Advice (FOFA) 
reforms. We have been central in all forums arguing ‘members’ best interest’ 
positions and the best outcome for our member funds.

All of this has only been possible with high-quality input from our Policy and 
Governance Committee, the Board and from innumerable AIST members.

Looking ahead, the Federal Election will slow the rate of superannuation 
change in 2016. The Government is pressing ahead with removing 
enterprise agreements from the Choice of Fund exemption and making 
governance changes, but will be hard pressed to progress selection of 
default funds, legislated objectives to superannuation and implementation 
of a ‘Comprehensive Income Product for Members’ Retirement’ before the 
election. Super tax changes are highly likely to be taken to the election 
although the final shape of these remain uncertain. AIST is ready, willing 
and able to represent the interests of all of these issues on behalf of our 
members.

GOVERNANCE AND STEWARDSHIP 

It was a very busy year for the Governance and Stewardship department with 
the Government actively prosecuting its case for independent directors on 
superannuation fund boards. AIST made two formal submissions to Treasury, 
two to APRA and one to the Senate Economics Legislation Committee on 
the Government’s proposed board composition reforms, and conducted 
numerous ongoing consultation activities.

The Fraser Review into the Governance of not-for-profit super funds 
was announced in December 2015, however we will see work on the 
preservation of equal representation continue well into 2016.

AIST also had a deep focus on Indigenous superannuation issues in 2015 
releasing a discussion paper for consultation, convening the Inaugural 
Indigenous Super Summit held in Melbourne in June and taking a post-
event report outlining outcomes of the Summit to Government in July (see 
Indigenous Super p. 22). The Indigenous Superannuation Working group, 
chaired by AIST, continued to meet throughout the year and established a 
working party with AUSTRAC to develop an Indigenous Identification Protocol 
specifically for the superannuation industry, a project that should see results 
in mid-2016.

AIST continued to advocate for the adoption of integrated reporting 
throughout the year, hosting member meetings and chairing the International 
Pension Fund Network on Integrated Reporting. VicSuper and Cbus are 
the first two super funds in Australia to adopt this concise, forward-looking 
reporting methodology that tells the fund’s value-creation story to its 
stakeholders. 

AIST released two more Governance Toolkits – Outsourcing and Investment 
Governance, making a total of six Governance Toolkits now available to 
members on the AIST website. These are a series of functional tools to 
assist trustees with maintaining strong prudential frameworks. They include 
tools such as checklists, flowcharts, diagrams and decision trees to assist 
trustees with understanding and applying their obligations. 

Recruiting for the 2016 Super Grads program was completed by the 
Governance team and together with the Mentoring@AIST program, will 
transition to the Education department of AIST in 2016.
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OUR OFFICE AND PEOPLE

2015 saw AIST take on a number of new staff members across a variety of 
roles as well as various internal restructures. Three new executive manager 
positions were created in human resources; finance; and marketing and 
strategy. AIST also implemented a resilience survey to track the health 
and wellbeing of staff, offered meditation sessions and entered into a new 
partnership for an employee assistance program. 

AIST aims to provide all employees in the organisation with some flexibility in 
balancing the demands of careers and their personal lives. During 2015, 25 
per cent of AIST employees were employed on a part-time basis – a rise on 
previous figures, notably due to the return of staff members from maternity 
leave. 

We also continue to value equal opportunity in the workplace. In 2015, 80 
per cent of AIST employees were female, with 89 per cent of the Executive 
team also comprising female staff. Staff range from ages 24 to 58 with an 
average age of 40 years. 

AIST undertook a major IT project in 2015, taking on additional resources 
to upgrade our membership database and online registration facilities. 
Technology was also upgraded across the business, with the introduction 
of new computers that allow staff to work from off-site locations, such as 
during travel, and the upgrade of technology in the AIST training rooms, both 
of which will give staff the resources required to provide a high level service 
to members. 

Our first Employee Engagement Survey was conducted to allow staff the 
opportunity to give anonymous feedback on their working environment. The 
outcomes of the report were then assessed by management and actions 
taken to implement improvements where issues had been identified as being 
of concern to the staff members.

Results from the survey were positive with 80 per cent of AIST staff 
members stating they would recommend AIST as an employer, that they 
were comfortable with the work environment and that their roles had 
sufficient variety. 80 per cent of staff also thought that AIST delivered 
exceptional service to its members which showed internally there is a strong 
belief in the work AIST is delivering. 

In 2016 we will conduct a similar survey to track AIST’s performance in 
those areas which have been identified by staff as requiring improvement 
as well as determine if AIST is still continuing to create that positive 
environment for its staff members. Other future projects include the 
introduction of bambooHR – an online Human Resources Information System 
and Enterprise Bargaining Agreement (EBA) renewal. 

2015 in Review



20 AIST 2015 Annual Report

Engaging with our stakeholders on key issues during 2015

2015 AIST STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

KEY ENGAGEMENT AREAS STAKEHOLDER GROUP OUR RESPONSE

Governance

Proposed Governance changes  
Government proposal to remove equal representation 
from SIS legislation & mandate 1/3 Independent 
directors (including an independent Chair.

 — AIST member funds

 — Government 

 — Other political parties

 — Treasury 

 — Regulators

 — Other associations

 — Academic/research organisations

 — Media

Governance and Stewardship p. 18 
The governance debate p. 22

Adequacy of superannuation at retirement

Employer compliance  
Ensuring employers are meeting their legal obligations 
in superannuation. This includes looking at unpaid 
super and proposed changes to the SG Charge. 

 — AIST member funds

 — Regulators

 — Treasury 

 — Regulators

 — Employer groups

 — Other associations

 — Academic/research organisations

 — Indigenous groups

 — Women’s advocacy groups

 — Media

Employer Compliance p. 23

Super gender gap 
Difference between superannuation balances of men 
and women at retirement.

Super Gender Gap p. 23

Indigenous Superannuation 
Issues around identification, accessibility and 
outcomes for Indigenous Australians and their 
superannuation.

Indigenous Super p. 22 
AIST in the community p. 16

Low Income Super Contribution (LISC) 
Repeal of the LISC in July 2017 – affecting an 
estimated 3.2 million Australians.

Super Gender Gap p. 23

Superannuation and regulatory reform

Financial System Inquiry 
Inquiry tasked with looking at how Australia’s financial 
system could be positioned to best meet evolving 
needs. Many recommendations affect superannuation.

 — AIST member funds

 — Treasury 

 — Regulators

 — Other associations

 — Academic/research organisations

 — Administrators

 — Media

Financial System Inquiry p. 22

Responding to tax Inquiry 
Government Inquiry into Australia’s taxation system 
including the tax treatment of superannuation.

Tax Inquiry p. 23

SuperStream 
Implementation and further policy development on 
SuperStream.

SuperStream p. 23

FoFA reforms 
Changes to financial advice regulations including 
adviser standards.

FoFA p. 24

Disclosure 
This includes the amount and type of information 
disclosed by super funds to their members.

Disclosure p. 24

Post-Retirement  
This includes the high level on involuntary 
retirement in Australia, post-retirement products and 
preservation age.

Post-retirement p. 23
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Engaging with our stakeholders on key issues during 2015

2015 AIST STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

KEY ENGAGEMENT AREAS STAKEHOLDER GROUP OUR RESPONSE

Professional Development

Skills gap analysis 
Evaluating the education and training needs of 
trustee directors. 

 — AIST member funds

 — Industry partners

 — Regulators

Trustee and fund staff education and events p. 17

Trustee education  
On-going professional development opportunities 
for super fund trustee directors.

Trustee and fund staff education p. 17

Thought leadership  
Domestic and global relationships providing 
insight into key topics relevant to AIST member 
funds.

Fostering global links and international perspective p. 17 
Industry partners p. 31

Financial support of industry 
Supplementation of professional development for 
AIST members. 

Fostering global links and international perspective p. 17 
Industry partners p. 31

Relationship building  
Forums for industry partners and key fund 
personnel to build relationships. 

Fostering global links and international perspective p. 17 
Industry partners p. 31

Engagement with the not-for-profit super 
sector 
This includes participation on AIST committees 
and committees of interest, Young Super Network 
events, consultation on policy, and more.

Inspiration & knowledge sharing p. 17 
Our members p. 9

Training needs analysis 
Evaluating the education and training needs of 
fund staff in core growth areas.

Trustee & fund staff education p. 17

Our internal environment

Professional development 
The on-going learning and skill development of all 
AIST staff.

 — AIST staff

 — AIST member funds

All information is contained in Our people p. 19

Workplace diversity 
Participation of different groupings of individuals 
in the workplace.

Health and wellbeing 
The introduction of initiatives to reduce risk 
factors and promote protective factors in relation 
to the health and wellbeing of staff. 

Culture review 
The review of the cultural climate of the company 
to ensure it is providing the best possible working 
environment to its staff.
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Key themes in detail

 This section provides an overview of our responses to key issues impacting on the not for profit superannuation sector in 2015. This section outlines our 
responses and how our responses added value to members.

THE GOVERNANCE DEBATE 

In June 2015, the Government proposed a range of changes to the 
board composition of all APRA-regulated superannuation funds, including 
mandating at least one third independent directors, including an independent 
Chair. 

AIST strongly opposed these changes. Our key objections included the lack 
of any evidence that the changes would improve retirement outcomes for 
members of not-for-profit funds; the proposed definition of independence 
being unclear and unworkable; and the removal of equal representation from 
the SIS legislation.

AIST continues to advocate for a principles-based approach to the 
governance arrangements of superannuation funds, as flexibility is necessary 
in an industry that has distinctly different sectors with significantly different 
structures and stakeholder interests.

Throughout the year, AIST maintained consistent opposition to the proposed 
legislation, which eventually stalled in the Senate. We consulted extensively 
with all key stakeholders, including the cross bench Senators, and sent clear 
messages to the media that the proposed legislation was not in members’ 
best interests. 

Timely updates on the progress of these consultations and any proposed 
changes kept our members informed. Regular briefings were provided to 
the AIST Board, our policy and governance committee, AIST member fund 
boards and other members, as well as to participants at the quarterly Chairs’ 
Forums, the Governance Roadshow around the country and AIST’s annual 
governance event – Governance Ideas Exchange.

At the end of 2015, a coalition of cross bench senators announced it 
would not support the Governance Trustee Bill. As an alternative, Senator 
John Madigan, Senator Nick Xenophon, Senator Glenn Lazarus, and 
Senator Jacqui Lambie, proposed an industry review of not-for-profit fund 
governance. 

AIST and Industry Super Australia (ISA) have commissioned a review by 
former RBA Governor and Treasury Secretary Bernie Fraser to lead to the 
development of a best practice Governance Code for not-for-profit super 
funds by 30 April 2016.

FINANCIAL SYSTEM INQUIRY

2015 saw the Government release its long awaited response to the Financial 
System Inquiry, which commenced in December 2013. The Government 
responded to more than 20 FSI recommendations regarding superannuation, 
largely agreeing to all the recommendations, bar the call to ban borrowing in 
superannuation. 

While AIST was broadly supportive of many of the Government measures 
announced – in particular the move to enshrine the objective of super in 
legislation, – there were some notable exceptions. We do not support the 
move to review default fund selection separate from a holistic review of 
the super system, following the full implementation of the Stronger Super 
reforms.

AIST members were kept up to date with all major announcements 
concerning the FSI explained in regular member updates. Members also had 
the opportunity to attend AIST’s FSI Roadshow that toured eight cities across 
Australia. We continue to support a default system overseen by the Fair Work 
Commission.

In 2016, AIST expects to continue to see policy proposals following the 
Government’s response, and will be working closely with members to ensure 
that their views are heard by all relevant stakeholders. 

AIST-MERCER SUPER TRACKER 

During the year, AIST and Mercer collaborated to develop an industry first 
“super tracker” that will set the benchmark for evaluating the Australian 
superannuation system.

The AIST-Mercer Super Tracker provides an objective method for measuring 
the costs and benefits of the superannuation system, including the ability to 
see how potential policy or regulatory changes could affect the system as a 
whole. 

The Tracker has been presented to a wide range of stakeholders – including 
the Assistant Treasurer Kelly O’Dwyer – and has been welcomed as a very 
useful policy shaping tool. 

In addition, AIST has utilised the tracker to inform a number of policy 
decisions, notably testing tax policies (see more information at Tax Inquiry on 
p. 23) and assessing the super gender gap (see Super Gender Gap p. 23). 

AIST will continue to utilise the tool in our engagement with policy 
stakeholders and to ensure our policy positions are evidence-based and 
holistic. 

INDIGENOUS SUPER

In 2015, AIST strengthened its involvement with the Indigenous 
Superannuation Working Group – a cross industry commitment to 
establishing and meeting the superannuation needs of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people. 

With the aim of building awareness, stimulating discussion and 
consideration of the issues by all of the relevant stakeholders, the Indigenous 
Superannuation Working Group held an Indigenous Super Summit in 
Melbourne on 1 June 2015. The Summit inspired delegates to commit to 
action beyond the one-day event.

Summit delegates agreed that superannuation is not meeting the needs 
of many Indigenous Australians whose lower life expectancy leads to 
disengagement, and delegates recognised that attempts at communicating the 
benefits of super are mostly not aligned with cultural values and community 
goals. There was general consensus that more engagement with Indigenous 
communities to identify what they want from their super was vital and that the 
various stakeholders, including the relevant government agencies, need to 
cooperatively share information and assist to improve outcomes.
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From the Summit, a report outlining key themes and responses was 
produced and delivered to Government, opposition and minor parties. The 
Working Group also commenced work on a pilot project on Indigenous I.D 
in conjunction with AUSTRAC.AIST will continue to Chair and be an active 
member of the Indigenous Superannuation Working Group, in line with 
our goal to ensure a better retirement outcome for all Australians. More 
information – including links to the Discussion Paper, Summit footage and 
Summit report can be found on the AIST website.

TAX INQUIRY

AIST’s submission to the Tax Inquiry examined the full spectrum of 
superannuation taxes in the accumulation and post-retirement phases, 
with a view towards a creating a fairer, more sustainable and less-complex 
tax regime. We have strongly argued that any future policies should be 
evidence-based and made against a framework that clearly sets out the 
purpose of super. 

AIST used the AIST-Mercer Super Tracker to road test over 25 tax policies 
raised by political parties, media, peak bodies and research institutes. AIST 
also flagged the Tax Inquiry as a golden opportunity to look at improving 
superannuation outcomes for women (see super gender gap below).

The Tax Inquiry’s timetable has been progressively delayed and changed, 
with there continuing to be uncertainty about how the Government will 
formulate and present policies to be taken to the election. AIST will continue 
to be a key contributor to the tax debate, with a further analysis of tax 
proposals via the Tracker to be released in 2016. 

AIST continues to speak publicly in support of a fairer distribution of tax 
concessions across income deciles and long-term sustainability of the 
system. This is in line with our goal to ensure a better retirement outcome 
for all Australians.

SUPER GENDER GAP

AIST remained an active stakeholder in the super gender gap debate during 
2015. With the Government’s announcement of a Senate Inquiry into 
improving the retirement outcomes for Australian women in August, AIST 
used the AIST-Mercer Super Tracker to demonstrate the gender savings gap 
at retirement as a key area of weakness in Australia’s super system. 

Following on from the announcement, AIST collaborated with Women in 
Super and Industry Super Australia to hold a briefing with Senator Jenny 
McAllister – providing attendees with an intimate insight into this Inquiry and 
an opportunity to contribute on this important issue. 

AIST also provided updated figures on the gender gap to all members 
and used the debate to raise support for the retention of the Low 
Income Superannuation Contribution (LISC). The LISC scheme – which 
currently benefits 3.6 million Australians – provides up to $500 a year in 
superannuation for those earning less than $37,000 per year. AIST pointed 
out around two million working women who currently benefit from the 
scheme would be adversely affected with its removal, further contributing to 
the super gender gap.

RETIREMENT AND SUPERANNUATION 

Rules around the preservation age and access to the Age Pension were a 
hot topic during the year, sparking concerns among older Australians and 
social welfare groups. 

AIST advocated strongly against any increase to the Age Pension age and 
the current preservation age. Our joint research with the Australian Centre 
for Financial Studies (ACFS) on involuntary retirement was cited as strong 
evidence that any increases would negatively impact on a significant number 
of Australians. 

To improve the public’s understanding of how superannuation works with 
the Age Pension in retirement, AIST produced a research paper debunking 
the myth that $1 million is necessary for a dignified retirement. The paper 
focused on the reality of retirement for most working Australians and 
sought to address concerns and fears among older Australians approaching 
retirement with much lower super balances. 

POST-RETIREMENT 

AIST was also actively involved in the debate – and responding to 
Government reviews and recommendations – on post-retirement products. 
Our joint research with the Australian Centre for Financial Studies (ACFS) on 
post-retirement products provided strong evidence of the need for funds to 
provide a range of product solutions for their retiring members. This report 
will remain an important piece of armour for AIST should the push from 
commercial providers to mandate annuities gather momentum. 

EMPLOYER COMPLIANCE

AIST was very active during the year in opposing Government moves to 
reduce the penalty for employers not meeting their obligations to pay 
superannuation to their employees. AIST recognises that employer non-
compliance is a growing issue for many of our member funds and their 
members and we will continue to advocate for vigilance in this area. 

SUPERSTREAM 

SuperStream has continued to be the quiet achiever of the Stronger Super 
reforms, with the transition to ecommerce and common data standards now 
largely in place. All APRA funds are now SuperStream compliant, as are 
most larger employers, many smaller employers and SMSFs. Super funds 
have made large financial and resource commitments to implementation, 
and there has been enormous cooperation and collaboration between super 
funds, employers, service providers and the ATO to address some significant 
challenges in the implementation process. How the Superannuation 
Transaction Network (including gateways) built by SuperStream will be 
governed is the next big challenge, and AIST is a key member of a coalition 
of industry stakeholders building a solution. SuperStream is set to address 
many data and technology issues, and AIST is focused on harnessing 
SuperStream to meet future needs. 
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DISCLOSURE

AIST has consistently advocated for alignment between MySuper and Choice 
disclosure and reporting. This is needed to deliver global best-practice 
consumer disclosure and enable the efficiency and competitiveness of the 
superannuation system to be analysed.

Our advocacy on improving disclosure across the super sector involved 
ongoing consultations with ASIC, notably around the regulatory guide (RG97) 
on disclosing fees and costs in PDS and periodic statements, issued in 
November. 

While we welcomed the general thrust of the regulations, AIST remains 
concerned that the disclosure regulations do not go far enough and exclude 
investment platforms, where there is a considerable amount of money 
invested. The requirements for disclosure are complex, and AIST believes 
that further guidance is needed to ensure consistency and comparability.

Following on from the release of RG 97, Treasury issued Improved 
Superannuation Transparency, covering draft choice product dashboard and 
portfolio holdings disclosure in December 2015, which was then closely 
followed by APRA’s reporting consultation package, underpinning choice 
product dashboard. 

In our response to this proposed draft legislation, AIST will continue to 
call for greater alignment of MySuper and Choice disclosure through 
the introduction of Choice dashboards, as well as meaningful consumer 
disclosure in regards to portfolio holdings.

FUTURE OF FINANCIAL ADVICE (FOFA) AND FINANCIAL ADVISER 
STANDARDS

We now have finality to the FOFA reforms, with the Corporations Amendment 
(Streamlining of Future of Financial Advice) Bill 2014 passed by the Senate 
with amendments late in the year. AIST was pleased to see the amendments 
which ensured that most of the investor protections enacted under the Rudd 
and Gillard governments were entrenched.

The changes address the issues which caused the Senate to disallow the 
regulations in November 2014, including the removal of the amendments 
to fee disclosure and opt-in requirements, the definition of volume-based 
shelf-space fees and the adviser best interest duty. During the debate, AIST 
engaged with parliamentary committees, Senate crossbenchers and the 
Minister to advocate for FOFA changes to continue to protect investors, and 
to see financial planning progress as a profession. We expect the Bill to 
receive Royal Assent in early 2016.

In 2015, we also finally saw draft legislation that will see degrees made 
mandatory for financial advisers, and the requirement for a code of ethics, 
together with professional standards, which AIST supports. AIST put forward 
a number of submissions indicating our strong support for this, and this 
comes at the end of long engagement with Treasury, ASIC and other industry 
stakeholders to ensure that the principles proposed at the start of the FOFA 
process were not compromised.

In 2016, AIST will continue to advocate for a best-practice system. AIST will 
be actively involved in consultations on what form these codes of ethics will 
take on, together with finer detail of professional standards and relevant 
degrees. 

Key themes in detail
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2015 Highlights

2016 Plans
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AIST Committees

AIST would like to thank all of our 2015 committee members for their invaluable contribution throughout the year. The AIST Board has the authority to 
establish Board committees and ad hoc committees to assist its work, but retains overriding responsibility for any delegated activity. More information on 
individual committees – including roles and responsibilities – is available on the AIST website.

The Remuneration Sub-Committee is a Board business committee, with the delegated authority and responsibility of overseeing the CEO’s role and AIST’s 
staff remuneration, including assessing the CEO’s role against the position description and KPI’s, setting annual bonuses for AIST staff and any pay increases 
outside of the AIST EBA, and assisting the CEO with senior staff appointments as required.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Board committee)

NAME AIST POSITION AIST MEMBER FUND MEETINGS ATTENDED MEETINGS ELIGIBLE

Angela Emslie (CHAIR) President HESTA 1 1

Tom Garcia CEO AIST 1 1

Gerard Noonan Trustee elected director Media Super 1 1

David Smith Deputy president Energy Super 1 1

The Finance, Audit & Risk Committee is a Board business committee, with the delegated authority and responsibility of overseeing AIST’s financial operations, 
audit requirements and risk assessments. This includes ensuring AIST complies with all relevant accounting standards, monitoring AIST’s risk management 
framework, monitoring cash flows and accounts against the approved budget and reviewing contractual arrangements prior to presentation to the Board.

FINANCE, RISK & AUDIT COMMITTEE (Board committee)

NAME AIST POSITION AIST MEMBER FUND MEETINGS ATTENDED MEETINGS ELIGIBLE

David Coogan (CHAIR) NA PwC 6 6

Graeme Arnott Staff elected director First State Super 5 6

Tom Garcia CEO AIST 6 6

Maryann Mannix-White Executive Manager, Business & Operations 
Services & Company Secretary

AIST 5 6

Danielle Press* Staff elected director Equip 1 1

Geoffrey Lake** Trustee elected director Vision Super 5 5

Tanya Tran Executive Manager, Finance and Analytics AIST 6 6

Cate Wood Trustee elected director CareSuper 4 6

*resigned from AIST Board 18/3 
** joined AIST Board 18/3

The Education Committee contributes to the development of AIST’s Education platform and education content, monitoring superannuation education trends, 
proposing initiatives for new educational activities and suggesting educational topics for conferences, seminars and lunches.

EDUCATION COMMITTEE

NAME AIST ROLE ORGANISATION

Cate Wood (CHAIR) Trustee elected director CareSuper

Adam Gibson AIST member AustralianSuper

Julie Haines AIST member Statewide

Amy Maiolo AIST member LUCRF Super

Bruce McBain AIST associate Corporate Superannuation Association

Johanna Neilsen AIST member Cbus

Stephen Pratt Staff elected director Prime Super

Kerrie Robertson AIST associate Superpartners

Graeme Russell AIST member Media Super

Sophie Sigalas AIST member HESTA

David Smith AIST Deputy President Energy Super

Nick Duffy Professional Development Manager AIST

Meegan George Executive Manager, Education and Leadership AIST

Genevieve Johnson Education Project Management Coordinator AIST

Maryann Mannix-White Executive Manager, Business & Operations Services & Company Secretary AIST
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The Policy and Governance Committee contribute to the development of AIST’s Policy Platform and specific policies stemming from it. This includes 
monitoring superannuation policy developments, providing input for AIST submissions, making recommendations on research projects and suggesting policy 
topics for conferences and seminar lunches.

POLICY AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

NAME AIST ROLE ORGANISATION

Gerard Noonan (CHAIR) Trustee elected director Media Super

Amy Auster AIST research partner Australian Centre for Financial Studies

Sandra Buckley AIST associate Women in Super

Benedict Davies AIST member UniSuper

Louise du Pre-Alba Staff elected director AustralianSuper

Angela Emslie AIST President HESTA

Andrea Forbes AIST member Sunsuper

Phil Grindlay AIST member Club Plus Super (resigned November)

Geoffrey Lake Trustee elected director Vision Super

Julie Lander AIST member CareSuper

Rod Masson AIST member Cbus

Zak May AIST associate Industry Super Australia

Patrick McAvaney AIST member SuperSA

Bruce McBain AIST associate Corporate Super Association

Steven Miller AIST member Telstra Super

Philip Mussared AIST member RBF

Andrew Proebstl AIST member legalsuper

Deborah Ralston AIST research partner Australian Centre for Financial Studies (resigned November)

David Smelt AIST member Statewide

Ann Smith AIST member First State Super

Hans van Daatselaar AIST associate Superpartners (resigned December)

Cate Wood Trustee elected director CareSuper

Janet de Silva Executive Manager, Media & Communications AIST 

Tom Garcia CEO AIST

David Haynes Executive Manager, Policy & Research AIST

Eva Scheerlinck Executive Manager, Governance & Stewardship AIST

Jake Sims Research Officer AIST

Karen Volpato Senior Policy Adviser AIST

Richard Webb Policy and Regulatory Analyst AIST

AIST Committees
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Tom Garcia
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Age: 45

Appointed: 2013

Qualifications: BE (Hons), Adv Dip FP, 
Grad Cert Bus, GAIST

Career overview:

 — Executive Manager,  
Policy and Research – AIST

 — Paraplanning Manager, Financial Planner, 
Project Manager – Industry Fund Financial 
Planning

 — Engineering Manager, Retreading Project 
Co-ordinator, Technical Sales Representative 
– Michelin Australia Pty Ltd

 — Engineer, Bridgestone Australia Ltd

Since his appointment as CEO, Tom has been 
actively involved in helping AIST member funds 
deal with the many challenges facing the super 
industry, not the least being the implementation 
of the Stronger Super reforms. 

Tom is an active participant in the ongoing debate 
about superannuation policy and a member of the 
ATO’s Superannuation Industry Advisory Group 
and ASX Corporate Governance Council. Tom is 
also involved in the IGCC policy committee, ACSI 
member council and ACFS Industry Advisory 
Council.

Prior to joining AIST, Tom spent five years 
with Industry Fund Services in a number of 
key financial planning, project management 
and management roles. Previous to that Tom 
spent nearly 10 years at Michelin, finally as 
Engineering manager.

Janet de Silva
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
MEDIA & COMMUNICATIONS 

Age: 56

Appointed: 2007

Qualifications: BSc (Hons), GAIST

Career overview:

 — Personal finance and lifestyle freelance 
journalist, Age/SMH Newspaper 

 — Deputy Editor, Age Epicure Section

 — Editor, personal financial section, Age 
Newspaper

 — Finance journalist, Australian Financial 
Review

 — Director, Mothers’ Day Classic Foundation 
(current)

Janet is responsible for the development 
and implementation of AIST’s media and 
communications strategy. The media team works 
closely with the policy, governance, education and 
events teams to ensure that AIST communicates 
effectively to our member funds, the Government, 
the media, and other key stakeholders.

Maryann Mannix-White
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
BUSINESS & OPERATIONS SERVICES 
& COMPANY SECRETARY

Age: 49

Appointed: 2004

Qualifications: GDipAppCorpGov (in progress)

Career overview:

 — General Manager Marketing & 
Communications, Make-A-Wish Foundation 
of Australia

 — Marketing Manager, Tasmanian Convention 
Bureau

 — Sales Manager, Melbourne Convention and 
Visitors Bureau

Maryann is responsible for membership, 
events and IT at AIST. These teams manage the 
relationships with AIST members, undertake 
event management logistics for all AIST events, 
and provide IT solutions for the business. These 
teams do their utmost to ensure the member or 
stakeholder experience is of the highest quality 
it can be. 

AIST Executive Biographies
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David Haynes
EXECUTIVE MANAGER,  
POLICY & RESEARCH

Age: 57

Appointed: 2013

Qualifications: BA(Hon), Dip. Fin. Services, FAIST

Career overview:

 — General Manager, Industry Fund Services

 — Executive Manager, Financial Advice & Retail 
Investments, ME Group

 — Chief Executive, AUSfund, IRIS, ME 
Investment Funds

 — Account Manager, Australian Administration 
Services (AAS)

 — Chair, Audit & Risk Committee, Council of the 
Aging (Vic) (current)

 — Executive Superannuation Advisor, IQ 
Business Group (current)

 — Monash Business School, Banking & Finance 
Advisory Committee (current)

David and his team are responsible for working 
with AIST members in the development of policies 
and research to advance retirement outcomes for 
members of not-for-profit funds, and to advocate 
for their adoption through representations. They 
do this by writing submissions, papers and 
articles, by participating in public and private 
forums, by engaging with government, regulators 
and industry stakeholders, and by supporting all 
parts of AIST in delivering services to members.

Meegan George
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
EDUCATION & LEADERSHIP

Age: 44

Appointed: 2012

Qualifications: Bcom, Accounting Grad (UTS) Dip 
NLP, GAICD, Certificate IV in Workplace Training 
and Assessment

Career overview:

 — Strategic Education Consultant for Finsia, 
RGA International, AMP Financial Planning, 
Deutsche Bank Australia

 — Learning and Development Manager, JP 
Morgan plc

 — Relationship Manager, JP Morgan plc

 — Client Service Manager, State Street Australia 
Limited

Meegan and her team are responsible for 
providing education programs that enhance 
workplace skills and behaviours of AIST member 
employees. The team works closely with many 
leading education providers, superannuation 
industry partners and AIST members to 
offer relevant, cost effective and high quality 
education solutions. The team consists of 
experienced industry professionals, specialising 
in superannuation and adult learning principles. 
They are also responsible for the Super Grads 
and mentoring programs at AIST.

AIST Executive Biographies

Sharon Bierens
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
PEOPLE & CULTURE

Age: 46

Appointed: 2014

Qualifications: Bachelor of Arts & Law, 
MBA (in progress), Certificate IV in Workplace 
Training and Assessment

Career overview:

 — Human Resources Manager, MCM Media

 — Human Resources Manager, The Social 
Research Centre

 — Human Resources Manager, Mercy Health

 — Human Resources Manager, Victoria 
Hospitals’ Industrial Association

 — Human Resources Manager, JP Morgan/
Salomon Smith Barney

 — Human Resources Manager, Healthscope

 — Solicitor, Minter Ellison

Sharon is responsible for people and culture 
at AIST. This role is important in ensuring that 
the staff members within the teams of AIST are 
well supported, balanced and provided with the 
relevant professional development to ensure that 
they are operating at their optimum level so that 
the member or stakeholder experience at AIST is 
of the highest quality it can be.
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Tanya Tran
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
FINANCE & ANALYTICS

Age: 35

Appointed: 2011

Qualifications: BIS, MAcct, CPA

Career overview:

 — Accountant, Melbourne University Publishing

 — Area Accountant, Flight Centre

Tanya and her team are responsible for managing 
the finances of AIST. This includes financial 
reporting, budgeting, forecasting, interim and end 
of year audits, risk management and database 
processing. The team ensures the efficiency of 
reporting and smooth operation of the business’ 
finances as well as on-going improvement and 
accuracy of the financial reporting system.

Theresa Hoogland
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
MARKETING & STRATEGY

Age: 36

Appointed: 2011

Qualifications: AdvDipAdv, AdvDipPR, 
DipBusMan

Career overview:

 — Marketing and Fundraising Manager, 
Guide Dogs Victoria

 — Events Coordinator, Guide Dogs Victoria

The marketing team is responsible for the 
development and delivery of strategies to 
enhance the member experience across 
professional development, including education 
and events as well promoting the AIST brand 
to the industry more broadly. Marketing is 
also responsible for the procurement and 
management of AIST’s sponsorship portfolio. 

AIST Executive Biographies

Eva Scheerlinck
EXECUTIVE MANAGER, 
GOVERNANCE & STEWARDSHIP

Age: 43

Appointed: 2010

Qualifications: BA, LLB, Grad. Dip. Comm. 
Mgmt, GAICD, GAIST

Career overview:

 — Principal, Scheerlinck Consulting

 — CEO, Australian Lawyers Alliance/Australian 
Plaintiff Lawyers Association

 — National Policy Manager, Australian Plaintiff 
Lawyers Association

 — Solicitor, Ryan Carlisle Thomas

Eva and her team are responsible for driving best 
practice governance in not-for-profit super funds, 
leading the way in areas of policy and practical 
application. They work closely with the industry 
and regulators providing guidance on reform 
implementation, while offering practical services 
such as governance tools and services. The team 
also analyses governance data in all sectors of 
the super industry.
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Our 2015 Industry Partners

AIST PARTNERS

MAJOR EVENT PARTNER

PREMIUM PARTNERS

To aid our mission, we work with our industry partners who provide a revenue stream that supports policy, advocacy and education work. Industry partners 
also provide global connections for AIST to utilise at various conferences and events throughout the year. In return, AIST provides access to super fund 
decision-makers and influencers. We wish to thank all of our industry partners for their on-going support and contribution which assisted AIST in having 
another successful year.
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CONFERENCE OF MAJOR SUPER FUNDS (CMSF) 2015

 — Franklin Templeton Investments
 

AUSTRALIAN SUPERANNUATION INVESTMENT CONFERENCE 2015

 — Challenger

 — Hastings

 — Holding Redlich

 — Lazard

 — Mandiri Investasi

 — Maple-Brown Abbott

 — Northern Trust

 — Pimco
 

ADMINISTRATION IDEAS EXCHANGE

 — IQ Group
 

TECHNOLOGY IDEAS EXCHANGE

 — Harbour IT

 — IQ Group
 

INSURANCE IDEAS EXCHANGE

 — CommInsure

 — SCOR Global Life

GOVERNANCE IDEAS EXCHANGE

 — BoardPad

 — PricewaterhouseCoopers
 

LEGAL & COMPLIANCE IDEAS EXCHANGE

 — King & Wood Mallesons
 

AIST AWARDS FOR EXCELLENCE

 — ME: Communication Awards

 — State Street: Leader Development Scholarships
 

AIST THOUGHT LEADERSHIP LUNCH SERIES

 — Aberdeen

 — Macquarie

 — Towers Watson

 — Vanguard

Our 2015 Industry Partners

EVENT PARTNERS

MEDIA PARTNER 

 — Conexus Financial

RESEARCH PARTNER 

 — Australian Centre for Financial Studies (ACFS)
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2015 Financial Statement

Directors’ Report
The directors present their report together with the financial statement of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees (“the Company”) for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Fund Fund Position Qualifications Date appointed Date resigned

Angela Emslie HESTA Chair Trustee Representative Director, 
President

02/01/2007

David Smith Energy Super Director Trustee Representative Director, 
(Deputy President 12/06/2015 – 
31/12/2015)

24/03/2014

Catherine Wood Care Super Chair Trustee Representative Director, 
(Deputy President 01/01/2015 – 
11/06/2015)

28/03/2011

Gerard Noonan Media Super Chair Trustee Representative Director 01/04/2010

Danielle Press Equip Chief Executive Officer Staff Representative Director 28/03/2011 18/03/2015

Michael O’ Connor First Super Co-Chair Trustee Representative Director 20/03/2013

Graeme Arnott First State Super Deputy CEO/Chief Operating 
Officer

Staff Representative Director 15/11/2013

Dr Sue Gould Unisuper Director Trustee Representative Director 16/04/2014 12/02/2015

Stephen Pratt Prime Super General Manager Operations Staff Representative Director 24/03/2014

Kate Andrews HESTA Executive Manager, Marketing 
Strategy

Board Appointed Director 24/03/2014 13/8/2015

Louise du Pre- Alba Australian Super Head of Policy Staff Representative Director 18/03/2015

Geoffrey Lake Vision Super Deputy Chair Trustee Representative Director 18/03/2015

Naomi Edwards Tasplan Chair Board Appointed Director 16/12/2015
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2. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are:

Director AIST Board Finance, Audit & Risk 
Committee

Remuneration Committee

A B A B A B

Angela Emslie 5 6 1 1

Catherine Wood 5 6 4 6

Gerard Noonan 5 6 1 1

Danielle Press 1 1 1 1

Michael O’Connor 3 6

Graeme Arnott 5 6 5 6

Dr Sue Gould 1 1

David Smith 5 6 1 1

Stephen Pratt 5 6

Kate Andrews 4 4

Geoffrey Lake 5 5 5 5

Louise du Pre-Alba 4 5

Naomi Edwards 1 1

A: Number of meetings attended 
B: Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year 
Note that David Coogan from Price Waterhouse Coopers has attended all Finance, Risk & Audit Committee meetings during the year as chair.

3. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

The Company is a national not-for-profit organisation whose mission is to promote and protect the interests of Australia’s $650 billion not-for-profit 
superannuation sector. The Company’s membership includes the trustee directors and staff of industry, corporate and public-sector funds, who manage the 
superannuation accounts of nearly two-thirds of the Australian workforce.

As an advocate and peak representative body for the not-for-profit superannuation sector, the Company plays a key role in policy development and is a 
leading provider of research.

The Company provides professional training and support for trustees and fund staff to help them meet the challenges of managing superannuation funds and 
advancing the interests of their fund members. Each year, the company hosts the Conference of Major Superannuation Funds (CMSF), in addition to numerous 
other industry conferences and events.

The Company manages its short and long term objectives of providing advanced education in connection with the superannuation industry. These activities 
are managed by the Company’s CEO with oversight from the Board of Directors through the Company’s 3 year strategic plan. The Company’s performance is 
measured by attendance and feedback from members at various activities and conferences. The financial management of the Company is managed through 
the Board, the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company during the year.

4. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The total revenue including interest income for the year was $7,744,523 (2014: $9,616,809). 

The total comprehensive income after income tax was $543,015 (2014: $1,127,812). The Company is exempt from income tax.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that occurred during the financial year under review.

The Company’s year is 1 January to 31 December inclusive.
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5. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any other item, transaction or event of a material and 
unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs 
of the Company in future financial years.

6. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS

The directors are not aware of any circumstances which would materially affect the ongoing development of the Company. Further information about likely 
developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report 
because disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

7. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The directors of the Company do not receive any remuneration for the performance of their duties as Directors. These positions were approved by the Board to 
fulfil specific objectives.

8. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability to any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of 
the Company.

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company paid a premium under a contract insuring the directors, the company secretary and certain officers 
for liabilities incurred in those capacities.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of premium in respect of the period cannot be determined from the insurance contract and is therefore 
not disclosed.

9. LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 39 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Dated at this 10th day of February 2016

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

______________________________ ______________________________

Angela Emslie, Director   David Smith, Director
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Auditor's Independence Declaration under subdivision 60-C section 60-
40 of Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 

To: the directors of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015, there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

kP/vfG
KPMG 

Dana Bentley 
Partner 

Melbourne 
th lO February 2016 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 



40 AIST 2015 Annual Report

2015 Financial Statement

Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

In AUD Note 2015 2014

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,501,915 1,991,070

Term deposits 5,688,672 4,387,972

Trade and other receivables 16 115,144 309,118

Prepayments 919,411 337,967

Total current assets 8,225,142 7,026,127

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 10 123,184 7,904

Intangible assets 11 138,819 62,736

Total non-current assets 262,003 70,640

 

Total assets 8,487,145 7,096,767 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Income received in advance 18 3,392,780 2,664,439

Trade and other payables 17 586,007 499,275

Employee benefits 19 328,341 304,789

Total current liabilities 4,307,128 3,468,503

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee benefits 19 95,483  86,745

Total non-current liabilities 95,483 86,745

 

Total liabilities 4,402,611 3,555,248

 

Net assets 4,084,534 3,541,519

 

EQUITY  

Contributed equity 1,423,489 1,423,489

Capital and operational reserve 23 1,600,000 1,200,000

Retained earnings 1,061,045 918,030

Total equity 4,084,534  3,541,519

The notes on pages 44 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

In AUD Note 2015 2014

Revenue 7 7,551,333 9,386,998

Expenses 8 (7,136,726) (8,425,695)

Results from operating activities 414,607 961,303

 

Finance income 15 193,190 229,811

Finance expenses 15 (64,782)  (63,302)

Net finance results 128,408 166,509

Income tax expense 6(b) - - 

Profit/(Loss) for the period 543,015 1,127,812

Other comprehensive income  

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the period 543,015 1,127,812

The notes on pages 44 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

In AUD Contributed Equity Capital & Operational 
Reserve

Retained Earnings Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2015 1,423,489 1,200,000 918,030 3,541,519

Comprehensive income for the period

Other comprehensive income for the period - - - -

Profit/(loss) for the period - - 543,015 543,015

Total Comprehensive income for the period - - 543,015 543,015

Transactions with members, recorded directly 
in equity

Allocation of retained earnings to capital and 
operational reserve - 400,000 (400,000) -

Total transactions with members - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2015 1,423,489 1,600,000 1,061,045 4,084,534

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

In AUD Contributed Equity Capital & Operational 
Reserve

Retained Earnings Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2014 1,423,489 700,000 290,218 2,413,707

Comprehensive income for the period

Other comprehensive income for the period - - - -

Profit/(loss) for the period - - 1,127,812 1,127,812

Total Comprehensive income for the period - - 1,127,812 1,127,812

    

Transactions with members, recorded directly 
in equity

Allocation of retained earnings to capital and 
operational reserve - 500,000 (500,000) -

Total transactions with members - 500,000 (500,000) -

Balance at 31 December 2014 1,423,489 1,200,000 918,030 3,541,519

The notes on pages 44 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

* Restated

In AUD Note 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATION ACTIVITIES  

Cash receipts from customers 8,729,685 8,678,023

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (8,296,927) (9,325,423)

Cash generated/(used in) from operations 432,758 (647,400)

Other revenue 496,950  1,412,869

Interest paid (64,782) (62,302)

Interest received 193,190  229,811

Net cash from operation activities 12 1,058,116 931,978

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Investment in bank deposits (1,300,700)  (747,177)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (130,701)  -

Acquisition of intangible assets (115,870) (53,604)

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (1,547,271)  (800,781)

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Repayment of borrowings - - 

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities - - 

 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (489,155) 131,197

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,991,070 1,859,873

 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9 1,501,915  1,991,070

* Refer to note 6 (c)

The notes on pages 44 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees [ABN 19 123 284 275] (the “Company”) is a Company limited by guarantee domiciled in Australia. 
The Company is incorporated in Australia. The address of the registered office is 215 Spring Street Melbourne Victoria 3000, Australia. The financial 
statements of the Company are for the year ended 31 December 2015. The Company is a non-for-profit entity and primarily involved in:

 — Delivering high quality education, training and information and resources to those who are involved in the superannuation industry;

 — Providing support and resources to those wishing to develop the skills and qualifications to take up involvement in the superannuation industry or to 
increase such involvement;

 — Establishing and maintaining appropriate professional standards for the representative superannuation industry;

 — Administering professional accreditation programmes and registers for those who are involved in the superannuation industry;

 — Providing licensing and compliance advice, and compliance monitoring services to the superannuation industry;

 — Organising meetings, seminars and conferences that facilitate local, national or international networks for these involved or interested in the 
superannuation industry to come together to discuss and progress topical issues;

 — Undertaking research concerning superannuation and retirement income policy issues;

 — Supporting and encouraging participation within the superannuation industry of women and men from community groups and backgrounds; 

 — Undertaking activities that are ancillary to the activities listed in the preceding paragraphs, being activities that the company considers will advance 
its ability to pursue its purposes, and activities that are incidental to the activities listed in the preceding paragraphs;

 — Fostering knowledge, debate and the development of ideas about superannuation in the Australian community;

 — Participating in debate and putting forward the views of those involved in the representative superannuation industry, about the development of 
superannuation and the retirement income policies within Australia; 

 — Promoting community awareness of the values of the representative superannuation industry and the benefits of having Representative Trustees 
overseeing a viable and equitable retirement system in Australia; and

 — Creating awareness about indigenous superannuation issues amongst funds and the wider superannuation industry.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10th February, 2016.

3. FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

4. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.

5. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets which are measured at fair value. The 
methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 13.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has consistently applied the account policies set out in Note 6 to all periods presented in these financial statements.

(A) REVENUE

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and it can be reliably measured. Revenue is 
recognised for the major operating activities as follows:

Membership fees
Membership fee income is recognised on an accrual basis, and recognised in profit or loss over the membership period.

Conference registrations
Conference registration income is recognised in the year of the conference taking place. Monies received in advance are recognised in the statement 
of financial position as income received in advance.

Sponsorship
Sponsorship income is recognised in the year of the event taking place. Monies received in advance are recognised in the statement of financial 
position as income received in advance.

Compliance, education and training income
Compliance, education and training income is recognised as revenue when the right to receive the revenue has been established, which is 
considered to be on the provision of the service.

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues, using the effective interest method.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established. All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST).

(B) INCOME TAX 

The Company is exempt from income tax pursuant to Section 50-5 of the income tax Act (1997).

(C) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. 

In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO) is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

In the comparatives presented for the year ended 31 December 2014, cash flows relating to GST were not shown on a gross basis and this has 
been amended to be consistent with the current year gross presentation. The restatement increased both cash receipts from customers and cash 
payments to suppliers and employees by $890,342 for the year ended 31 December 2014. The restatement had no impact on cash generated/ 
(used in) from operations.

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(i)  Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within other income or other expenses in profit or loss.
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(ii)  Depreciation 

Items or property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual 
value. 

Depreciation is recognised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since 
this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Office Equipment  5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(iii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iv) Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or any other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of leasehold improvements, from the date that 
they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold Improvements 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

(E) INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(i) Software

Software assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Software  3 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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(F) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

(i) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will 
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 
employee expense in the profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 

The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return 
for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The discount rate is the yield at the 
reporting date on government bonds that have maturity dates approximately the term of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in 
the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(iii) Short-term Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits are not discounted and expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(G) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

The Company initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provision of the instrument.

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate 
asset or liability. 

The Company de-recognises a financial a financial liability when tis contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company 
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company has the following non-derivative financial assets: Receivables and investments.

Receivables 
Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to 
insignificant risk of change in their fair value and are used by the Company in the management of its short-term commitments. 

Investments 
Investments comprise deposits with maturities of more than three months but less than one year are included in short term deposits. Such short-
term deposits are stated at cost which approximates market value. 
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(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company 
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables.

(H) LEASES 

(i) Lease payment

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease 
adjustment is confirmed.

(ii)  Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial 
recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position.

(I) IMPAIRMENT

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company 
on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise, indicators that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.

(ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss.

(J) FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale assets) and gains on the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and impairment losses recognised on financial assets. Borrowing costs that are not directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
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(K) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Australian Dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 

(L) NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2014, and have not 
been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Company are set out below. The Company does not plan to 
adopt these standards early. 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
AASB 9, approved in December 2014, replaces the existing guidance in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. AASB 9 
includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating 
impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments from AASB 139. 

AASB 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Company is assessing the potential impact on its financial 
statements resulting from the application of AASB 9.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It replaces existing revenue 
recognition guidance, including AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

AASB 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Company is assessing the potential impact on its 
financial statements resulting from the application of AASB 15.

(M) DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue comprises proceeds received for services which have not been performed and for which there is a return obligation, and is 
recorded in the statement of financial position, consistent with the revenue recognition policy (refer to note 6 (a)).

(N) CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 6 to all periods presented in these financial statements. No new 
accounting standards applicable to the year ended 31 December 2015 have required significant changes to the Company’s accounting policies.

7. REVENUE

In AUD  2015 2014

 

Membership 1,228,861 1,232,315

Events including registration & sponsorship 4,208,144 5,171,725

Exhibition 163,870 148,955

Professional development 914,804 1,264,146

Licensing & compliance 395,595 389,709

Luncheons 143,109 155,733

Other revenue* 496,950 1,023,415

Total 7,551,333 9,386,998

* Other revenue for 2014 includes a one-off refund of legal expenses from the State Revenue Office that related to the previous financial year.
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8. EXPENSES

In AUD  2015 2014

 

Accounting and audit fees 27,180 30,573

Board expenses 46,682 53,095

Event related expenditure 1,906,477 2,335,253

Consultancy fees & research 509,514 455,893

Depreciation & amortisation 55,208  9,667

Information and technology 233,913 329,939

Insurance 19,825  41,197

Legal & other professional fees* 5,031  482,965

Marketing & website expenses 153,340  62,663

Membership related expenses 99,606  90,039

Postage and couriers 2,278  6,167

Professional development expenses 287,388 578,809

Rent & outgoings 257,958  239,855

Salaries 3,258,217  3,500,979

Staff training 20,559  8,429

Stationery & printing 29,665  26,578

Subscriptions 24,117  16,847

Telephone & data 15,548  13,206

Travel 61,010  54,501

Other expenditure 123,210  89,040

Total 7,136,726 8,425,695

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In AUD 2015 2014

Bank balances 1,501,415  1,990,570

Cash on hand 500  500

Total Cash and Cash equivalents 1,501,915 1,991,070
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

In AUD Office Equipment Total

COST

Balance at 1 January 2014 37,892 37,892

Acquisitions - -

Disposals - -

Balance at 31 December 2014 37,892  37,892

Balance at 1 January 2015 37,892 37,892

Acquisitions 130,701 130,701

Disposals - -

Balance at 31 December 2015 168,593 168,593

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2014 28,219 28,219

Depreciation charge for the year (1,769) (1,769)

Balance at 31 December 2014 (29,988) (29,988)

Balance at 1 January 2015 (29,988) (29,988)

Depreciation charge for the year (15,421) (15,421)

Balance at 31 December 2015 (45,409) (45,409)

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 1 January 2014 9,673 9,673

At 31 December 2014 7,904 7,904

At 31 December 2015 123,184 123,184
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In AUD Software Total

COST

Balance at 1 January 2014 76,706 76,706

Acquisitions 53,604 53,604

Disposals - -

Balance at 31 December 2014 130,310 130,310

Balance at 1 January 2015 130,310 130,310

Acquisitions 115,870 115,870

Disposals - -

Balance at 31 December 2015 246,180 246,180

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 January 2014 (59,676) (59,676)

Amortisation charge for the year (7,898) (7,898)

Balance at 31 December 2014 (67,574) (67,574)

Balance at 1 January 2015 (67,574) (67,574)

Amortisation charge for the year (39,787) (39,787)

Balance at 31 December 2015 (107,361) (107,361)

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 1 January 2014 17,303 17,303

At 31 December 2014 62,736 62,736

At 31 December 2015 138,819 138,819

12. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

In AUD 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS/ (LOSS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(Loss) for the period 543,015 1,127,812

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 55,208 9,667

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working capital and provisions 598,223 1,137,479

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables and prepayments (387,470) 136,055

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 86,732 (111,844)

Increase in provisions and employee benefits 32,290 67,969

Increase/(decrease) in income received in advance 728,341 (297,681)

Net cash from operating activities 1,058,116 931,978
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13. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the 
reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

(ii) Held-to-maturity financial assets – term deposits

Term deposits are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date.

(iii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to relevant 
lease agreements. 

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Company has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:

 — credit risk

 — liquidity risk

 — market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk, and their management of capital. 

(i) Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the overall risk management framework of the Company. 
Further, the Board has established the Finance, Audit & Risk Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the approach to finance 
and risk management. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligation.

The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. 

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises principally from the Company’s receivables and investments in term deposits.

The Company has established entry procedures for each new fee payer arising from new enrolments and this includes communication of rules in 
respect of fee payment and other terms and conditions of enrolment. These procedures are overseen by the Board. Fee payers that fail to meet entry 
conditions, fee payment requests or ongoing terms and conditions of enrolment are precluded from participating in Company activities.

The Company does not require collateral in respect of trade receivables, however a member may be excluded in the event of non-payment of fees for 
Company events.

The Company has established an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables. The main 
components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. There is no collective loss component of 
this allowance as the history of losses has not been significant.
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 (iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

Typically the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses and facilities development as 
indicated for forward cash flow planning calculations, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

To analyse liquidity, management performs cash flow analysis on a bi-monthly basis for the ensuing quarter.

(iv) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

(v) Capital management

The Board of Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base to provide for sustainable operations of the Company. The Board of Directors 
monitor cash and cash equivalents, budgets, forecasts of expenditure and revenue to ensure the Company’s capital base is adequate.

(vi) Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The Board of Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base to provide for sustainable operations of the Company. The Board of Directors 
monitor cash and cash equivalents, budgets, forecasts of expenditure and revenue to ensure the Company’s capital base is adequate. 

CARRYING AMOUNT

In AUD Note 2015 2014

Trade and other receivables 16 115,144 309,118

Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,501,915 1,991,070

Term Deposits 5,688,672 4,387,972

Prepayments 919,411 337,967

8,225,142 7,026,127

The Company’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables arises primarily with fee payers located across Australia; however there is no significant 
concentration of receivables by any individual fee payer.

Term deposits include $340,500 (2014: $315,000) which reflect deposits required to be held under the bank guarantee for the office premises lease 
and credit card facility. 

Credit risk relating to cash and cash equivalents and term deposits is minimal given the institutions the Company hold these funds with.

Impairment Losses

The aging of the Company’s trade receivables at the reporting date was:

GROSS

In AUD 2015 2014

Not past due 108,151 270,653

Past due 31-90 days 26,441 30,145

Past due 91 days to one year (19,448) 8,320

115,144 309,118

There were no allowances for debtors or write-offs in respect of the 2014 and 2015 financial year given that all debts are believed to be recoverable.
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(vii) Liquidity risk

The carrying amount of the company’s financial liabilities is represented by trade and other payables (note 17) and income received in advance 
(note 18). The carrying amounts approximate contractual cash flows and are anticipated to be settled within 12 months of 31 December 2015 (31 
December 2014: 12 months). The company has adequate financial assets to meet these liabilities and assesses liquidity risks as minimal.

(viii) Interest rate risk

The Financial assets – variable 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and term deposits are invested in deposits on terms between 30 and 365 days. These investments are 
managed to take advantage of the best interest rates available at maturity while taking into account the Company’s investment policy and funding 
needs.

Financial liabilities – variable 
The Company has no variable rate borrowings.

Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

CARRYING AMOUNT

In AUD 2015 2014

VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets 7,190,587 6,379,042

Financial liabilities -

7,190,587 6,379,042

Fair value sensitivity analysis  
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the 
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

A change of 200 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The 
underlying assumptions and methodology is based on management analysis of historical data. The analysis also assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

PROFIT OR LOSS

In AUD 200bp increase 200bp decrease

31 DECEMBER 2015

Variable rate instruments 143,812 (143,812)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 143,812 (143,812)

31 DECEMBER 2014

Variable rate instruments 127,581 (127,581)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 127,581 (127,581)

(ix) Guarantees

Bank Guarantees

At 31 December 2015, the Company has been issued a guarantee from its financiers in respect of its lease and credit facilities.

(x) Fair values

The fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 approximate their carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial positions.
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15.  FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 

In AUD 2015 2014

RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS

Interest income on bank deposits 179,022 180,050

Other finance income 14,168 49,761

Finance income 193,190 229,811

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost - (3,401)

Other finance expenses (64,782) (63,302)

Finance costs (64,782) (63,302)

Net finance income recognised in profit or loss 128,408 166,509

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

In AUD 2015 2014

CURRENT

Debtors 15,626 80,000

Interest 79,592 63,376

Other Debtors 19,926 165,742

115,144 309,118

The Company’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 14.

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

In AUD 2015 2014

CURRENT

Trade creditors 188,609 53,657

GST payable  152,478 183,723

Accrued expenses 71,389 45,745

PAYG payable 153,531 166,150

Other payables 20,000 50,000

586,007 499,275

18. REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

In AUD 2015 2014

Event revenue received in advance 2,434,190 1,598,730

Membership revenue received in advance 958,590 1,065,586

Other - 123

3,392,780 2,664,439
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19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In AUD 2015 2014

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Liability for annual leave and long service leave 328,341 304,789

328,341 304,789

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Liability for long service leave 95,483 86,745

95,483 86,745

20. FUNDS, CAPITAL AND RESERVES

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

The entity is a company limited by guarantee. The maximum liability per member is $10. At 31 December 2015 there were 5,153 members, made up of 
Trustee Directors, Fund Staff, Associate and individual members.

21. OPERATING LEASES

LEASES AS LESSEE

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

In AUD 2015 2014

Less than one year 270,842 263,298

Between one and five years 161,394 435,953

432,236 699,251

The Company has an operating lease relating to office premises. The original lease runs for a period of 5 years from 1st August 2007. The lease was 
renewed for a period of 5 years from 1st August 2012.

In AUD 2015 2014

Less than one year 16,764 15,240

Between one and five years 42,943 54,241

59,707 69,481

The Company has an operating lease relating to photocopiers. The lease runs for a period of 5 years from 24th July 2013.

22. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

In AUD 2015 2014

AUDIT SERVICES

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia 27,000 26,000

Other Services

Process and Risk Management Services 38,353 -

Total Auditor’s Remuneration 65,353 26,000
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23. CAPITAL AND OPERATIONAL RESERVE

This reserve is to fund future exceptional capital and operational expenditure including one-off projects that advance the Institutes’ principal activities, 
development of new programs and the required staff training to deliver it.

24. CONTINGENCIES

There are no known contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015.

The entity has financial guarantees totalling $188,564 to unrelated 3rd parties as at 31 December 2015 (2014: $165,177).

25. RELATED PARTIES

(i). Transactions with key management personnel

During the period, the Company provided membership, conference and other educational services to the Trustee Directors or Management Personnel 
of the relevant Superannuation Funds of Directors. These services were provided on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Gerard Noonan is a director of the Australian Council of Superannuation Investors (ACSI). ACSI reimbursed AIST for property services during the year on 
a cost recovery basis. AIST provided administration support on a cost recovery basis to Women in Super (WIS). Catherine Wood is a director of WIS.

The directors of the Company do not receive any remuneration for the performance of their duties as Directors.

(ii) Key Management Personnel

The names of the directors and personnel that are key management personnel during the period are as follows:

Name Position

Angela Emslie Trustee Representative Director - President

David Smith Trustee Representative Director – Deputy President (12/06/2015-31/12/2015)

Catherine Wood Trustee Representative Director – Deputy President (01/01/2015-11/06/2015)

Gerard Noonan Trustee Representative Director

Michael O’Connor Trustee Representative Director

Danielle Press Staff Representative Director (resigned 18/03/2015)

Graeme Arnott Staff Representative Director 

Dr Sue Gould Trustee Representative Director (resigned 12/02/2015)

Stephen Pratt Staff Representative Director

Kate Andrews Board Appointed Director (resigned 13/08/2015)

Louise du Pre-Alba Staff Representative Director

Geoffrey Lake Trustee Representative Director

Naomi Edwards Board Appointed Director

Tom Garcia Chief Executive Officer 

Maryann Mannix-White Executive Manager Business & Operations Services

Janet de Silva Executive Manager Media & Communications

David Haynes Executive Manager Policy & Regulatory

Meegan George Executive Manager Education & Leadership

Eva Scheerlinck Executive Manager Governance & Stewardship

Tanya Tran Executive Manager Finance & Analytics

Theresa Hoogland Executive Manager Marketing & Strategy

Sharon Bierens Executive Manager People & Culture
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(iii) Key Management Personnel

In AUD 2015 2014

Short-term employee benefits 1,071,628 1,056,959

Post-employment benefits 118,037 123,494

Other long term benefits 124,915 -

1,314,580 1,180,453

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any other item, transaction or event of a material 
and unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in 
subsequent financial years.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Australia Institute of Superannuation Trustees the Company:

(a) the Company is not publicly accountable;

(b) the, financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 6 to 29 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act  
 2012, including:

 (i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2015 and of its performance, for the financial year ended on that  
  date; and
 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2012 ; and

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 10th of February 2016.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

______________________________

Director

______________________________

Director
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Independent audit report to the members of Australian Institute of 
Superannuation Trustees 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees ("AIST" or "the Company"), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2015, the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 26 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and 
the directors' declaration of the Company. 

This audit report has also been prepared for the members of the Company pursuant to the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 (ACNC). 

Directors' responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC. 
The Directors' responsibility also includes such internal control as the Directors determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Company's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
gives a true and fair view, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC, a 
view which is consistent with our understanding of the Company's financial position and of its 
performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
('KPMG International"). a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. 

Auditor's opinion 

In our opinion the financial report of Australian Institute of Superannuation Trustees is in 
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Action 2012, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December 2015
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for
profit Commission Regulation 2013.

t,<PMG 
KPMG 

Dana Bentley 
Partner 

M�ourne

fo February 2016 
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